IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SERGIO CORONA,

Petitioner,

CASE NO: SC06-1054

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FIFTH DISTRICT, FLORIDA

MR. CORONA'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

STEVEN G. MASON, ESQUIRE

STEVEN G. MASON, P.A.

1643

HILLCREST STREET

ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32803

TELEPHONE (407) 895-6767

FACSIMILE (407) 895-2090

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

I FACTS & PROCEDURE

Mr. Corona was accused of committing a sexual battery upon Amy Corona on January 25, 2002 (T2/187). His case was very unusual in that <u>no witness</u> with personal knowledge of the allegations testified against him. The <u>entire case</u> against Corona was based upon hearsay statements parroted by police witnesses and a purported admission that Corona made in Chicago, Illinois, two days after the events. This "admission" was never memorialized by the police in any fashion--no tape recording and no written report.

On the morning of trial, unable to present its witnesses, the state filed an amended notice to rely upon child hearsay statements (R6/229). Defense counsel objected to the admission of hearsay statements, and also objected that Mr. Corona's rights to confrontation were being violated. These hearsay objections were repeatedly renewed during trial (T1/67, 70, 72; T2/175, 184, 185, 188). In fact, at one point the court recognized a standing objection to the state's line of questioning (T2/189).

In his direct appeal Mr. Corona argued that his constitutional right to confrontation was violated, that the hearsay statements ran afoul of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, and that lack of cooperation is insufficient to establish unavailability under the constitution. See page 29 of Mr. Corona's Direct Appeal Initial Brief and *Lawrence v. State*, 691 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 1997). The argument section of Mr. Corona's brief, addressing the Fifth Amendment, United States ConstitutionSixth and Fifth and Sixth Amendment right to confrontation violated when the state fails to present testimony from the alleged victim/child or any witness with personal knowledge of the offense?

* * * *

3. [I]is a witness (in this case, the child and her mother) constitutionally unavailable under *Ohio v. Roberts*, 448 US 56 (1980) simply because the state waits until a few days before trial to procure their attendance-- thus supporting the admission of their out-of-court statements?

See Corona's Petition for Writ of Certiorari at page 2.

The state conceded that Corona's claim(s) were preserved for appeal.

[T]he defense counsel objected that the admission of these statements violated the defendant's...right to confrontation under the constitution. (T1/70)

* * * *

The claims were presented to the state appellate court in terms of a deprivation of a federal constitutional right, on the same grounds raised in this petition. The state's answer brief addressed these two issues on the merits.

See State's Response to Petition for Writ of Certiorari at pp. 6-8.

The Supreme Court granted Mr. Corona's petition, vacated the judgment, and

remanded his case to the District Court for reconsideration in light of Crawford v.

Washington, 541 US 36 (2004). Corona v. Florida, 541 US 930 (2004).

On remand the District Court ordered supplemental briefing. Corona argued that

under "Crawford" he was entitled to a judgment of acquittal or a new trial, and further

that the Florida child-hearsay statute, Section 90.803(23) was unconstitutional. The

state again conceded that the issue was preserved for appeal.

Appellee agrees that there was a contemporaneous, timely objection to the admission of the hearsay evidence on the ground that the constitutional right to confrontation was being denied. Therefore, this issue was preserved.

See State's Supplemental Answer Brief at p. 9. See Appendix A.

The state asserted that the conviction should be upheld under *Blanton v. State*, 880 So.2d 798 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004), a case now under review by this Court. The state also made reference to pre-trial depositions that were taken in the case but that were not part of the record. Mr. Corona objected to these non-record depositions in that they were not part of the record and thus denied him due process. Over objection the district court allowed the state to supplement the record with the pre-trial depositions (years after the fact) of Amy and Victoria Corona.

Corona argued that "*Crawford*" and that in the past when defendants obtained the right to attend pre-trial depositions the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed. See *State v. Talbert*, 836 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) [allowing defendant to attend pretrial deposition resulted in a miscarriage of justice to the state].

The District Court once again upheld Corona's conviction finding that the issue had not been preserved for appeal, citing (among others) *Mencos v. State*, 909 So.2d 349 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005) and, alternatively, finding that the conviction should be upheld under *Mencos v. State*, Case #SC05-2105*State v. Lopez*, Case #SC05-88*Blanton v. State*, #SC04-1823*Mencos v. State*, 909 So.2d 349 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005), Case #SC05-2105, and 90-803(23) hearing occurred immediately prior to the commencement of trial, it is beyond dispute that the trial judge understood the nature of Corona's objection–since there were no witnesses with personal knowledge who testified in support of the state's case.

Defense

Counsel:

Also, your honor, in light of your ruling, I would argue that the admission of these statements violates my client's **right to confrontation**¹ under the constitution.

¹This argument took place immediately prior to the selection of Corona's jury. See discussion in *Corona*, **Appendix A**. All emphasis in this brief has been added unless otherwise noted.

	The Court:	That v	vas an argument to make in terms of making a record, and that has been dealt with. At this time the <i>Townsend</i> case and cases out of the United States Supreme Court run contrary to your client's position. So I'm going to deny that.
(T1/70)).		
	The Defenda (Via Interpret).		I also understand my rights are being violated by allowing third parties to testify.
	Defense Counsel:		Yes, your honor. At this time I'd like to renew all previous objections.
	The Court: Any one in particular? Defense		
	Counsel:		Yes, your honor, the child-hearsay statements coming in, my client's admissions coming in; any – I'm not sure if the state's tried to bring in any statements of Victoria Corona – but if they do, any of those, as well.
(T2/175) (Counsel's statement made during trial).			
	Defense Counsel:		Objection, hearsay.
	The Court: Rather than objecting to every single question that gets asked, w		

The Court: Rather than objecting to every single question that gets asked, why don't we assume you have a standing objection to this line of questioning. And based upon prior rules by the court, I'm going to overrule those objections. **But you've preserved your objection.**

Defense	
Counsel:	Thank you.

The Court: You're welcome.

(T2/189).

This Court has repeatedly stated that there are no "magic words" needed to

state a proper objection. Rather, the question is, in the context of the proceedings, did

the trial court understand the nature of the objection? For instance, in *Williams v. State*, 414 So.2d 509 (Fla. 1982), the question was whether the defendant properly made an ex post facto objection. This Court noted that he did not, but the fact that Williams challenged the retroactive application of the statute was sufficient to preserve the issue for appeal. This Court repeated this refrain in *Spurlock v. State*, 420 So.2d 875, 877 (Fla. 1982) [missing magic words do not concern court because the necessary substance was present], and in *State v. Heathcoat*, 442 So.2d 955, 956 (Fla. 1983) [specific word formula is not necessary for objection since same would exult form over substance]. As long as it is clear that the trial judge was aware of the objection, further objections would be pointless.]; *Thomas v. State*, 419 So.2d 634, 636 (Fla. 1982). See also, *Street v. New York*, 394 U.S. 576, 584 (1969) [discussion of preservation of error] and *United States v. Weir*, 51 F.3d 1031, 1033 (11th Cir. 1995) [court clearly understood objection and rejected it].

There are two additional opinions from this Court which conflict with the District Court's *Corona* opinion, specifically, *Evans v. State*, 838 So.2d 1090 (Fla. 2002) and *Hopkins v. State*, 632 So.2d 1372 (Fla. 1994).

In *Evans*, this Court found that because of the close relationship between hearsay and confrontation, a hearsay objection is sufficient to incorporate a confrontation claim.

The state contends that this claim is procedurally barred because Evans asserted below only that the reports should not be admitted because they constitute hearsay. We disagree. Although Evans' counsel did not specifically assert a Sixth Amendment challenge, the hearsay objection raised is closely related to the right of confrontation. Hence, we will review this issue on the merits. *Hopkins*, which likewise addressed confrontation and Section 90.803(23), the statute addressed in *Hopkins* at 1376.

Likewise, this Court should accept review over this case because it accepted jurisdiction over *State v. Belvin*, SC06-593*State v. Contreras*, #SC05-1767*State v. Lopez*, #SC05-88, pending with this court. Mr. Corona has filed a notice of related, pending cases with this Court.

Finally, the *Corona* opinion conflicts with Sixth Amendment and the *Corona* opinion conflicts with cases already accepted by this Court, Corona's case should likewise be accepted for review. Mr. Corona requests that the Court accept jurisdiction and order the parties to file merit briefs addressing all of the legal issues and claims raised in his appeal.

Respectfully submitted this 30th day of May, 2006.