IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SERGIO CORONA,

Petitioner,

v.

CASE NO.: SC06-1054
5TH DCA CASE NO.: 5D02-2850

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KELLIE A. NIELAN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar # 618550

WESLEY HEIDT
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #0773026
444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th Floor
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
FAX: (386) 238-4997

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

All relevant facts were included in the Fifth District Court's opinion Corona v. State, 31 Fla. L. Weekly D 1183 (Fla. 5th DCA April 28, 2006). Included in those facts were the following:

January 25, 2002, Sergio On Corona ("Corona") and his family were vacationing Orlando, Florida. The family accompanied by relatives of Mrs. Corona. The entire group shared a suite at the Westgate Resort near Walt Disney World. Shortly after midnight, Mrs. Corona walked into bedroom she was sharing with Corona and witnessed her husband performing oral sex on the couple's eleven-year-old daughter, A.C. Mrs. Corona lunged at her husband, who did not realize someone had entered the room, and pulled him up by the hair. immediately fled the suite, pursued by Mrs. Corona and her relatives, then got in the family van and drove back to Chicago. Mrs. Corona tried to get a security guard to stop her husband as he drove away. The guard refused, but he did report the incident to his supervisor and the police were called. Mrs. Corona was very upset when she spoke with the police and offered little useful information. A.C., however, was able to give a statement describing the crime in detail.

Mrs. Corona and A.C. returned to Chicago with other family members. Serendipitously, two days later, they crossed paths with Corona on the Eisenhower Expressway. The family blocked Corona's van with their own SUV and refused to allow Corona to drive away. When police arrived, they found a white van in a traffic lane blocked by a black SUV. Corona was sitting in the van.

More than ten irate people were on the highway, crying and yelling and trying to get at Corona. Officer Malkowski put Mr. Corona in his police car for his protection. Corona exclaimed to him: can't believe I did it, "and, "Why did I do it?" Officer Malkowski learned from the family members that they were angry with Corona because he had sexually assaulted the youngest daughter while they were vacation in Florida. They said they had made a complaint to police, but that Corona had fled the scene, and they had just crossed paths with him on their way home to Chicago. Upon learning this, Officer Malkowski took Corona into custody and read Corona his rights.

A detective interviewed Mrs. Corona and A.C. in Spanish. A.C. reported that she had been on the bed with her father, who had pulled her underwear to one side and put his mouth Officer Malkowski, on her genital area. joined by State Trooper Ewald, interviewed Corona for several hours. During the interview, Corona confessed to placing his mouth on A.C.'s genital area during the family's Florida vacation. He said his wife came into the room and saw what he was doing. At that point, he got up and ran away.

. . .

Based on these facts, Petitioner was charged with capital sexual battery on a child less than twelve years of age. Mrs. Corona and the victim initially cooperated with law enforcement; however, just prior to the trial, it became apparent neither would voluntarily appear for the trial. The State attempted to

serve the witnesses but was unsuccessful. The trial court held a hearing immediately prior to the trial, heard testimony from an investigator with the Cook County State Attorney's Office who had attempted service, and found the witnesses to be legally unavailable. The trial court made additional findings necessary for the admission of child hearsay at that time after which the defense made a "non-specific" objection to the victim's testimony violating Petitioner's right to confrontation. Then during trial, the following evidence was admitted:

At trial, Deputy Avilis testified over a hearsay objection that A.C., in reporting the incident, said that her father had come into the bedroom, put his hand on A.C.'s shoulder, and told her she was pretty. Her father then laid her down on the bed, pulled her clothing to the side, and put his mouth on her "toto." nl Her mother came into the bedroom, saw what was happening, and started screaming and hitting the father. confrontation objection was made as required under Florida law. See Philmore v. State, 820 So. 2d 919, 932-33 (Fla. 2002); Hardwick v. Dugger, 648 So. 2d 100, 107 n.5 (Fla. 1994); Sedney v. State, 817 So. 2d 1074, 1075 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002);

The two Chicago police officers who had taken Corona into custody in Illinois testified that Corona had confessed to the offense. Officer Malkowski testified that when he first placed Corona in his vehicle, Corona started saying in English: "I can't believe I did it. Why did I do it? That's my daughter." Malkowski said that he read

Corona his rights, but on the way to the police station, Corona initiated conversation and said over and over in English, "I can't believe I did that. Why did I do it? That is my daughter. This is my family. I couldn't help myself." At the station, when Corona was interviewed by both Officer Malkowski and Trooper Ewald, he confessed that he had put his mouth on A.C.'s genital area under her clothing. n2

At trial, Corona denied ever touching his daughter sexually. He said his wife mistook a hug he gave his daughter for improper touching. He fled to Chicago because his wife was so upset. He admitted that while he was in Officer Malkowski's patrol car, he kept saying, "I can't believe I did it." However, he said he meant that he could not believe he left his family in Florida.

nl Deputy Avilis testified that "toto" meant vagina.

n2 The confession was not taped.

Based on this evidence, the jury convicted Corona of capital sexual battery and he was sentenced to life in prison. The Fifth District Court of Appeal per curiam affirmed the judgment and sentence in June of 2003. Corona v. State, 853 So. 2d 430 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003). Petitioner sought review in the United States Supreme Court which granted certiorari review pursuant to Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), and remanded the case to the Fifth District Court of Appeal for reconsideration. On remand, the judgment and sentence were

again affirmed, and Petitioner is now seeking review in this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

While this Court does have discretion to accept jurisdiction in this case, it is the position of the State that this Court should decline to accept jurisdiction in this case. This case is distinguishable from the cases pending before this Court.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT DOES HAVE THE DISCRETION TO ACCEPT JURISDICTION OF THIS CASE; HOWEVER, IT IS THE POSITION OF THE STATE THAT IT SHOULD DECLINE TO DO SO.

This Court has jurisdiction to review the decision of a district court when that decision "expressly and directly conflicts" with a decision of either this Court or of another district court. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. However, this Court has repeatedly held that such conflict must be express and direct, that is, "it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision." Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986). Petitioner in this case has failed to show such a conflict.

Petitioner submits that this Court has jurisdiction because it has previously accepted review of <u>Blanton v. State</u>, 880 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) (This Court had oral argument on this case on May 4, 2006). The State admits the issue of whether the requirements of <u>Crawford v. Washington</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004), are met by pretrial depositions is addressed in both the instant case and in <u>Blanton</u>, and <u>Blanton</u> is before this Court based upon conflict with other district courts of appeal decisions.

However, the issue in <u>Blanton</u> which is before this Court is irrelevant if not preserved. In his jurisdictional brief

Petitioner spends the majority of his argument disagreeing with the factual findings of the Fifth District Court of Appeal. Petitioner takes issue with the appellate court's finding that the <u>Crawford</u> issue was not preserved and the appellate court's agreement with the trial court that the witnesses were unavailable. Petitioner does not disagree with the law relied upon by the Fifth District Court of Appeal as to these issues; instead, objecting only to the court's application of the facts to that law. Such argument does not show conflict, only disagreement with the facts.

The case law followed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal is not in conflict with other district courts of appeal or with case law from this Court. An objection should be specific and should be renewed. Neither of those requirements was met in the instant case. Therefore, the Crawford issue was not preserved.

Additionally, Petitioner cites <u>Lawrence v. State</u>, 691 So. 2d 1068 (Fla. 1997), for the position that the instant case is in conflict as to defining "unavailability." However, Petitioner presents no argument in support of this claim. Review of <u>Lawrence</u> shows a very limited effort by the State in which a witness would only testify if "forced" and the State made effort to do so. Id. at 1073. In the instant case there

was unrefuted testimony of numerous attempts to serve the witnesses at several different locations. Petitioner, clearly, has not shown any conflict on this issue.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented above, the State respectfully prays this Honorable Court does not accept jurisdiction in this matter.